## Joint Economic Development Organization Board Minutes July 25, 2012

City of Topeka Council Chambers, 214 SE 7<sup>th</sup> Street, Topeka, Kansas, Wednesday, July 25, 2012.

The Joint Economic Development Organization (JEDO) Board members met at 6:00 p.m. with the following Board members present: City of Topeka Council members Larry Wolgast, Karen Hiller and Andrew Gray; City of Topeka Mayor William W. Bunten; and Shawnee County Commissioners Shelly Buhler, Mary M. Thomas and Ted Ensley – 7.

Also present were nonvoting JEDO Board members: Council members Chad Manspeaker, Bob Archer, John Alcala. Absent: Councilmembers Denise Everhart, Sylvia Ortiz and Richard Harmon

Others present who presented and/or spoke before the Board: Dawn Wright, Vice-President of Economic Development for GO Topeka; Doug Kinsinger, President and CEO of GO Topeka/Greater Topeka Chamber of Commerce; Dr. Ioanna Morfessis, IO Inc.; Jeff Wietharn, Legal Counsel for GO Topeka; Angela Sharp, Bartlett & West; Rich Eckert, Shawnee County Counselor; William Beteta, Executive Director for Heartland Visioning; Gina Millsap, Heartland Visioning Executive Board Co-Chair and Executive Director, Topeka and Shawnee County Public Library; Maynard Oliverius, Board Chair of GO Topeka and former President and CEO of Stormont Vail Healthcare and Joseph Ledbetter.

Commissioner Buhler called the meeting to order.

## ITEM NO. 1: ELECTION of the 2012 JEDO Board Presiding Officer.

Commissioner Buhler opened the floor for nominations.

Commissioner Ensley nominated Commissioner Buhler to serve as the 2012 JEDO Board Presiding Officer. Commissioner Thomas seconded.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter nominated Councilman Gray.

Motion for Commissioner Buhler to serve as the 2012 JEDO Board Presiding Officer carried unanimously.

Councilman Gray made a motion to allow for public comment after each and every item on the agenda and also to allow public comment at the end of each JEDO Board meeting to include today's meeting.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that would initiate a change in the JEDO public comment policy. She indicated it was her intent to allow for public comment on all items at tonight's meeting. She requested if Councilman Gray wished to submit an agenda item for the next JEDO meeting to change the public comment policy then the Board could discuss it at that time.

Councilman Gray questioned if that was going to be Commissioner Buhler's policy for future JEDO meetings as well.

Commissioner Buhler stated if that is the wish of this Board, if they would want to change that policy.

Councilman Gray questioned if there is any way to make it official by changing it in the JEDO Operational Rules.

Commissioner Buhler indicated again that Councilman Gray could submit an agenda item for the next JEDO Board meeting requesting this change.

Councilman Manspeaker questioned why Councilman Gray couldn't suspend the rules to add this item to the agenda this evening.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that as a voting member Councilman Gray could make a motion to add to the agenda if he would like, if that is the wish of the Board.

Councilman Gray indicated that he would like to add this item to the agenda this evening. *Councilman Gray's motion died for lack of a second.* 

Councilman Manspeaker was curious as to what the opposition is to adding this item to the agenda.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that the agenda items are already set for tonight and she already intended to allow for public comment anyway on every item. She believes it is just a matter of changing the policy and that would need to be reviewed in its entirety at the next meeting.

Councilman Manspeaker stated that historically the JEDO Board has rejected allowing for public comment in general at the end of each meeting and he believes that is all that Councilman Gray is asking for so he is not really sure what the objection is to allowing for public comment at any of the JEDO meetings.

Commissioner Buhler thanked Councilman Manspeaker for his comments and again indicated that the motion had died for lack of a second.

Commissioner Buhler indicated to the Board that Megan Barrett from the Shawnee County Counselor's Office has agreed to take the minutes of tonight's meeting until the Board reaches Item No. 6 on the agenda when the Board will have discussion on that item.

#### ITEM NO. 2: APPROVAL of the Minutes of the JEDO Board meeting of December 5, 2011.

Commissioner Buhler asked if there are any changes or corrections to the December 5, 2011 minutes.

Mayor Bunten indicated spelling errors on Page 4, Paragraph 3 – correct spelling is Brock Hotels and Menninger Foundation.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter indicated on Page 1, middle paragraph - Mary Feighney (City Attorney's Office) stated that any item in the future should allow for public comment. He wanted to reiterate that to the minutes. Page 3, down at the bottom – He indicate that Councilman Alcala said GO Topeka has a huge prospect right now and a RPF would jeopardize it. Mr. Ledbetter wondered if the Board had a report regarding that huge prospect.

Commissioner Buhler asked Mr. Ledbetter for his proposed changes to the minutes only.

Mr. Ledbetter indicated that on Page 5, middle paragraph – he recalls that he had said the poverty rate had gone up 50% in the last 10 years. He believes that "50%" should be inserted because he specified how much it had gone up and this figure was according to US Census Bureau statistics for Shawnee County

Councilman Wolgast moved to approve the minutes of the JEDO Board meeting of December 5, 2011 with the changes indicated. Mayor Bunten seconded. Motion passed unanimously.

# ITEM NO. 3: PRESENTATION of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Quarterly Reports for the Greater Topeka Chamber of Commerce and the Growth Organization of Topeka.

Dawn Wright, Vice-President of Economic Development for GO Topeka conducted the presentation. She indicated that while the agenda packet includes both the 1<sup>st</sup> Quarter Report (which was provided to the Board in April 2012) and the 2<sup>nd</sup> Quarter Report; she would be speaking just on the 2<sup>nd</sup> Quarter Report this evening because it is cumulative and shows all their activities, successes and everything that they have been doing in the first two quarters of 2012.

### **GO Topeka Year to Date Report**

New business attractions. In the year 2011, there were 30 projects opened and worked. In the year 2012, as of June 30<sup>th</sup> there have been 20 new projects opened.

Prospects by Project Description – Current projects in their portfolio are made up of the following industries: Manufacturing 65%; Customer Service Centers 10%; Manufacturing with Distribution component 10%; Distribution 5%; Bioscience 5% and Headquarters 5%.

Projects by Lead Contact - How they attain the different projects in portfolio: Kansas Department of Commerce (KDOC) 38.89%; Direct Contact 33.33%; Kansas City Area Development Council (KCADC) 16.67% and KC Smartport 11.11%.

As of June 30, 2012 current GO Topeka Portfolio of New Business consists of 25 new projects. This represents \$440,400,000 in capital investment and 3,743 potential direct jobs with an average projected wage of \$44,858 per year.

Existing business programs. In the year 2011, there were 4 expansion projects worked on. In the year 2012, as of June 30<sup>th</sup>, there are currently 9 existing business that they are working with on expansion or retention of jobs.

As of June 30, 2012 current GO Topeka Portfolio of Existing Business Retention and Expansion consists of 9 projects. This represents \$6,000,000 in capital investment and 154 potential direct jobs with an average projected wage of \$45,600 per year. NOTE: Of these 9 businesses, 7 have not released expected jobs retained and new jobs added to GO Topeka.

Cumulative portfolio between New Business Attraction and Existing Business Expansion consists of 34 active projects in process as of June 30, 2012 with 3,897 potential direct jobs and \$446,400,000 in new capital investments.

Current GO Topeka Entrepreneurial Minority Business Development - as of June 30<sup>th</sup>, they have conducted 9 seminars/workshops/orientations serving 116 individuals. They held their Small Business awards and had 250 participants. This adds up to 366 entrepreneurs and professionals served with an average overall rating of 4.74 out of 5 for the services provided at those seminars. They finished their first new course entrepreneurial course – "Who Owns The Ice House" (36 hour course). First class was held February 22<sup>nd</sup> through April 4<sup>th</sup>. They had 16 enrolled and 14 graduates (88% graduation rate). 79% of those participating were from the Entrepreneurial Minority Business Development (EMBD) Priority Populations. Also of those course graduates, to date they have helped 7 businesses either open or expand. So 50% of the graduating class added on to their services or have actually opened a business from participating in this class.

Topeka Shawnee County First Opportunity Fund (CDFI) Activity – they have closed 2 loans to date for a total of \$20,000 to help some existing small entrepreneurs to get their business going. 100% of these loans were from low income target market. They currently have 5 additional loan clients in process.

Number of entrepreneurs/small businesses counseled in the  $2^{nd}$  Quarter – 46 with 91% being in the low minority income, minority-owned or woman-owned. Year to date they have had counseling sessions with 98 with 85% being in the low minority income, minority-owned or woman-owned.

EMBD Robotics Program at Highland Park was interviewed and highlighted recently in a national site selection journal – Business Xpansion Journal (BXJ)

GO Topeka Recent Awards and Recognitions (highlights):

- \*Honorable Mention for the Business Facilities 2011 Economic Deal of the Year Award February 2012.
- \*Organization of Economic Development Excellence-Business Facilities April 2012.
- \*Cyndi Legg (Vice-President of EMBD) awarded Community award for Distinguished Service given by Topeka Public Schools and the East Topeka Community April 2012
- \*Dawn Wright awarded for highest level of participation in Kansas Business Development Recruitment efforts by Kansas Calvary and Governor Brownback June 2012

Councilman Manspeaker inquired on the 34 prospective businesses that GO Topeka is currently working with. He asked if these were all just potential returns but not really concrete returns at this time.

Ms. Wright indicated that they know they are on the short list for a couple of these projects.

Councilman Manspeaker stated he just wanted to bring this up since every time JEDO has a meeting we are always on the short list for something.

Ms. Wright stated that we will continue to be on the short list because a lot of these projects are taking 12 to 18 months to come to a final decision.

Councilman Manspeaker inquired on the Minority and Disadvantaged Business programs and whether or not we were still offering the Fast Track program.

Ms. Wright indicated that First Step Fast Track was no longer in service because it was purchased by Operation Jump Start in 2009. What is being offered now is the First Step program and they are an affiliate of Operation Jump Start.

Councilman Manspeaker raises this concern because the Ewing Kaufmann Foundation continues to offer Fast Track as a program. From what he can tell, we received \$50,000 in Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) dollars (City Contract No. 39558) for calendar year 2009 and part of receiving that grant was that the City was providing Kaufmann Foundation Fast Track and other Kaufmann Foundation small business development courses. Councilman Manspeaker questioned whether we were providing these courses during these time periods.

Ms. Wright stated that in 2010, the First Step Fund was dissolved. The First Step Fund acted as governance for all the Ewing Kaufmann Foundation. GO Topeka's EMBD program still had 4 classes and materials purchased through the Ewing Kaufmann Foundation and were deemed an affiliate to continue to offer those classes of the First Step Fund.

Councilman Manspeaker's concern is that from January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009 we gave a grant (CDBG dollars) to GO Topeka to operate Fast Track. The first clause in the contract says to provide Kaufmann Foundation Fast Track and other Kaufmann Foundation small business courses. The contract states we were to be providing those courses. Councilman Manspeaker is in receipt of an email from the President of Kaufmann Fast Track stating that we haven't paid to use their services since 2008, so he is concerned about how we were able to give a grant to GO Topeka that was supposed to meet a certain requirement and it was not met; these are federal dollars and he wants to make sure we are dotting our I's and crossing our T's so the federal government doesn't come back to the JEDO Board for that money.

Doug Kinsinger, President and CEO of GO Topeka/Greater Topeka Chamber of Commerce stepped up to indicate that Ewing Kaufmann offered a variety of beginning entrepreneurial programs. As Ms. Wright mentioned, some of those were sold at a later time. The name "First Step Fast Track" was more a brand name (like Kleenex) that was given to certain programs, but some of those programs were sold to a different provider. GO Topeka ended up taking a variety of the other programs; some of those were portions of those that were sold to other providers, so they were components of First Step Fast Track. They had been offering First Step Fast Track since 2003, and it graduated more personnel out of Topeka than any other community in the nation. They felt they had saturated the market so they were trying to then begin offering other programs, more advanced training for small businesses so they went with one of these other programs. At that time First Step Fast Track was only offering one beginning entrepreneurial program.

Councilman Manspeaker responded that it is not like Kleenex; the Kleenex name is trademarked, just like the Fast Track program is a trademark of the Ewing Kaufmann Foundation so to offer their programs we have to pay them in order to use them and use their materials and judging by City Contract No. 39558 we were telling folks that we were using that program. GO Topeka received \$50,000 in CDBG funds based strictly on the fact that they were using Kaufmann Foundation Fast Track – this is 2009.

Doug Kinsinger indicated that they were programs that had been sold that still had part of that name, either it was called First Step as opposed to First Step Fast Track but they were programs that had been offered by Kaufmann that had been sold in 2010.

Dawn Wright reads from the GO Topeka timeline from 2008 to 2011 that she believes may help to explain. During that time, GO Topeka provided contract issues through a public Request for Proposal (RFP), it was awarded to Entrepreneurial Synergy and Entrepreneurial Synergy was deemed an affiliate for GO Topeka as a contract vendor and held 4 certifications, but only contracted to use First Step Fast Track as their feasibility course training. Entrepreneurial Synergy was a subcontractor to provide those services for First Step Fast Track and they may have paid the fee to Kaufmann at that time.

Councilman Manspeaker addresses Commissioner Buhler with his concerns that JEDO received CDBG dollars that went to GO Topeka and we didn't abide by the contract. These are federal dollars and they need to know if they have broken any federal law in using them in the wrong way.

Councilman Wolgast asked for a definition of projects or further clarification about when a contact becomes a project.

Ms. Wright indicated that a project is a company that has identified that Kansas and specifically our region has an asset or we have what they are looking for to suit their needs. A prospect would be someone who has a project, maybe they are thinking about expansion, they don't know where they are going to go. A project is somebody that GO Topeka has submitted a hard-copied proposal to that says here is a site that is available, here is a building that is available, here is the workforce that matches, here is everything that you have asked me for in your RFP and GO Topeka has responded to it that way.

Councilman Gray wants to again bring up the concerns that Councilman Manspeaker raised because he does not want the issue to die. If that \$50,000 of federal money was not used in the manner it should have, than that falls back on this Board, as a County, as a City. He would like a point of resolution where GO Topeka can come back to this Board or send an email out to confirm these funds were used correctly.

Commissioner Buhler directed Rich Eckert, Shawnee County Counselor to investigate the matter further and get back to this Board.

Ms. Wright indicated that they would be able to get a response within the next week on this issue.

Councilwoman Hiller indicated that she has some information that may help resolve this issue. She was copied in to an exchange on this subject and by the exchange on the matter was complete she was pretty satisfied that she knew what happened. As she understood it, the Fast Track program actually comes in a package that has or had she believes 8 modules and each of the modules has its own name and then someone who is going to present that program has an opportunity to purchase the right to use one or more of those modules and that what happened for us was that we had a 3<sup>rd</sup> party vendor that GO Topeka contracted with and also that our trainer herself had her own licensing which therefore delivered that program.

Councilman Alcala would also recommend that this issue be run through Rich Eckert, Shawnee County Counselor, to answer back and it gets on the record.

Councilman Alcala stated that earlier Ms. Wright had mentioned 34 potential projects for businesses brought here. He keeps in touch with 5 or 6 council people throughout the country that he has acquired a communication or friendship with. Councilman Alcala would like to know out of those 34 businesses or projects, how has the economy affected these deals, because what he is hearing in other states is that some of them have almost landed deals with their incentive monies but because of the economy it has pushed some of those deals off. He would like to know if that has been the case with the 34 potential projects we are pursuing.

Ms. Wright indicates that yes it has affected them. More companies are doing their homework, they are gathering the data, they are pinpointing and trying to get to a short list but they are not moving past that because they are not necessarily comfortable with what is going to happen with the economy and where they want to put their capital dollars. She believes for a community our size to have 34 projects in the pipeline is very good because the more we can have in the pipeline and be on the short list is obviously our potential to have another major project and a major land for our community. But the economy has had an impact and companies are not comfortable right now jumping ahead and making a move.

Councilman Alcala asked if this has put some of our high projects at risk.

Ms. Wright stated we are on the short list for some projects had their timeline has extended. Some because of the economy but some because they are working with companies that are on a very fast growth pattern and have grown extremely quickly and have now maybe had to take a step back to look at what they actually have, is the market going to be here in the future for their project.

Councilman Alcala stated that it is just not all about bringing in new business but enhancing the ones we have presently, so what are we doing right now with existing businesses that we have in the City of Topeka, keeping people working and training components and enhancement dollars.

Ms. Wright reiterated that GO Topeka currently has 9 existing companies that they are working on projects with, which means either that they are adding jobs or adding services, these are major employers that they are working with. So for us to have 9 projects in the pipeline for existing businesses to see how we can assist them, we are bringing in all the resources to the table, we are talking to them and we are continuing to work on our workforce development, the delivery of programs to make sure that we have the skilled workforce, not only for today but to keep those existing companies here in the future.

Councilman Alcala thinks this is very important for people to know, because a lot of people ask him at his neighborhood meetings not only what is in the pipe but what is being enhanced to keep people here being employed.

Councilman Manspeaker stated that in his neighborhood meetings, people want to know what we are spending their money on.

Councilman Alcala responds that when he gets asked that question he tells them if you look at unemployment across this country and you look at the impact that unemployment could have had on the City of Topeka and Target, Home Depot, Mars, Menards, you look at all those companies and that is what we are spending our money on and without the incentive money that the taxpayers voted for we wouldn't have any of those and can you image what unemployment would be then. He thinks that is an easy question for him to answer and one that is easy for people to understand, it is about jobs.

Councilman Manspeaker responds that if you look at the last 12 years of jobs in Topeka, Kansas we are at a net loss for jobs in Topeka, so we gain 200 jobs at Mars and we lose 300 jobs at Jostens, we lose 200 jobs at the post office processing facility - that is 500 jobs that we have lost in the last year.

Councilman Alcala indicates that we couldn't control that. He went to that meeting and lobbied to keep those jobs but the Feds already had their mind made up that they were going to move those jobs out. He also stated to look at the State of Kansas, the unemployment rate at the state has dropped also, and he doesn't know how an individual can control that, all you can do is try to keep unemployment as low as possible.

Councilman Gray indicates that we have spent over \$50 million dollars in the last 10 years and have lost 7,000 net jobs in the private sector, so he is curious if anyone may know, to eliminate those "what-ifs" and do a comparison of cities of similar sizes. What would it be like if we didn't have that, because if we didn't have that economic development before, than how did all of those companies come here, that have been here for quite some time. So if anyone is willing to uptake it, or he can do it on his own, just seeing how we are doing compared to other sectors.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter indicated he would like to zero in on the topic of the block grant contracts. He came across these through a KORA with GO Topeka probably back in 2010. There are 4 of these \$50,000 contracts; he thinks they are between 2006 and 2009. He believes that the Topeka City attorney needs to be involved because if anybody has to pay the money back, it is going to be the City of Topeka and not Shawnee County. He indicated that when you go to the U.S. Census reports on job losses statewide there are net gains statewide of approximately 1.9% over the 10 year period and that Topeka had an 8.4% net loss with private employers. So comparing apples to apples the State gained and Topeka lost a huge amount of private sector jobs in that 10 year period. Those are objective tables put out by the

U.S. government, nobody has an axe to gore (sic), they are not going to falsify those numbers, it is going to tell you what is. So that is what is and you can check that out yourself by "Googling" it. Mr. Ledbetter indicated that he is very concerned every time he sees these reports. First off, it has been 8 months since JEDO has had a meeting and these are supposed to be quarterly reports so how are we officially getting this documentation when JEDO only meets once every 8 months. He also states that in the contract, it calls for quarterly finance reports and there has only been one JEDO meeting that he has seen such a report and he thinks that was 3 meetings ago. Quarterly financials are part of GO Topeka's contract. Mr. Ledbetter stated that at the last meeting he asked the JEDO Board to review the contract and it hasn't been reviewed since at least 2004 and it appears to him that the contract is not being followed on several major points, like the quarterly financials. Mr. Ledbetter also inquired as to why the JEDO Board is not having quarterly meetings. Mr. Ledbetter thinks these reports are always interesting, he never sees names; he sees a lot of pie charts. When he was taking his MPA courses at KU in management of cities, the professors over there said to be very careful of pie charts from your employees because they can be glossed up, they can be made to say just about anything. He sees a lot of pie charts at all these meetings but he does not see actual names or specifics and details are completely missing. Mr. Ledbetter questioned how this fits transparency. He stated that 2 months ago the U.S. economy as a whole (GDP) produced 80,000 new jobs while tonight he heard that potentially we are working on projects for 3,800 of those jobs – and the nation only produced 80,000 total in a month, something doesn't seem quite right about that. Mr. Ledbetter would like tougher questions out of the JEDO Board besides just two members. He believes we are not getting enough answers from this organization. He indicated that they had mentioned a lot of awards earlier, which he stated that most of those publications are very tiny or are trade publications, most people don't even know what they are Mr. Ledbetter questioned if they received any awards for transparency from a nationally recognized organization. He is always concerned when he sees potential projects and the word potential throughout the verbiage, it is just potential, and he is spending \$5 million year for this out of his tax money and he is not getting answers and he wants answers and he wants results besides net losses of jobs as recorded by the Bureau of Labor and the U.S. Census Bureau objective sources that actually tell us the truth of what is going on in our economy.

Commissioner Buhler asked Doug Kinsinger how the GO Topeka quarterly reports are distributed to the JEDO Board.

Mr. Kinsinger indicated that the quarterly reports (financial and quarterly activity) are emailed to the Board and to his knowledge they are also posted to the websites.

Councilman Manspeaker stated that he has been told that they are posted on the City of Topeka's website but not on Shawnee County's website.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that Shawnee County has a link from their website to the City of Topeka's website.

### ITEM NO. 4: PRESENTATION by Dr. Ioanna Morfessis, IO Inc. regarding review of GO Topeka.

Doug Kinsinger first got up to clarify that he believes that there has been a misstatement by the media referring to this report as an audit. He wanted to remind everyone that the JEDO Board does review and approve a financial audit. An auditing firm was selected on a three year basis, that firm is CBIZ and Doug Glenn has been the key auditor. Mr. Kinsinger stated that for the past several years they have had no reportable conditions, no management letter, they have had a very clean audit. The audit for this year is almost complete with again the same conditions and the Board should be receiving that report very soon. These financial audit reports are reports paid for from JEDO funds and selected and approved by the JEDO body.

This report about to be presented is something that GO Topeka initiated on its own efforts and initiative which was to have an organizational benchmarking. This is an all-inclusive review of our economic development program at work, our major organizational operations, key programs and procedures and our systems and policies and processes. GO Topeka thought they had been doing a good job but they wanted to make sure they were looking for areas that they can improve and enhance. Mr. Kinsinger stated that GO Topeka looked for and found an expert in the field of economic development. They went to their national associations, and went to leaders in the nation and asked who were some of the best. They wanted to look for someone that GO Topeka had not had a business or personal relationship with - that being the staff, the Board or anyone affiliated with GO Topeka. They were very fortunate to find Dr. Ioanna Morfessis, one of the few doctors in the area of economic development.

Mr. Kinsinger gave the Board a little bit of background on Dr. Morfessis. She is a doctor of philosophy in public administration from Arizona State in Tempe, Arizona and her major was in economics and economic development. She found three of the world's best classed economic development organizations in the United States – one was the Economic Alliance in Greater Baltimore, one was the Greater Phoenix Economic Council, and the last was the Montgomery County Maryland Office of Economic Development. During her tenure in those organizations her work led to the attraction of nearly 30 billion private capital investments and the creation of more than 200,000 new jobs for these markets. The International Economic Development Council, which is our leading national association for economic development for professionals, gave Dr. Morfessis the lifetime achievement award and excellence award last year in September 2011, as the top economic development professional. She is known as an icon in the economic development world and she is a well-regarded author in both economic development journals and is highly sought after as a speaker and a lecturer. Her credentials are above reproach.

Councilman Gray questioned Mr. Kinsinger about this being an organizational benchmark and inquired whether this had ever been done before.

Mr. Kinsinger indicated no it had not been done before.

Councilman Gray asked what then brought this on.

Mr. Kinsinger stated that they wanted to make sure they could improve their processes or if there were areas that they could enhance or improve. It was the GO Topeka Board's discussion and thought that if there is any way they could improve, they wanted to make sure they were comparing themselves to their peers around the nation. This was the Board's initiative and they felt that they should do this internal review.

Councilman Gray questioned if this had anything do to with the JEDO Board discussing having an independent audit conducted. Councilman Gray inquired as to who paid for this review.

Mr. Kinsinger indicated that this review was paid for by private donations from the GO Topeka donors, from the business community. He stated that it was not in their budget that they submitted to JEDO, so they did not feel it was appropriate to be paid out of that budget.

Dr. Morfessis stated she was very pleased and honored to be here and to have this opportunity and to have been asked by GO Topeka, an organization that she was not familiar with, to conduct this market organizational review. She was very honored to have met with some of the JEDO members and some of the people in the audience as part of her review. Dr. Morfessis indicated that before she gets started with her presentation, she wanted to say up front that regardless of what organization hired her firm, her results would have been the same. She wanted to make that clear, as she understands that based on a call she received from a member of the Topeka area, that there are members of this Board that felt a further audit

organizational review is needed because the work of her firm was not objective. Nothing is farther from the truth. If JEDO, the State of Kansas, the City of Topeka, would have hired her firm, the results would have been the same.

Her presentation today is a summary of their organizational review. Her firm was retained to do an organizational and independent review of organizational operations, key programs and initiatives as well as procedures for GO Topeka and to offer their recommendations and again there were no conditions, there were no strings attached to this directive, but to offer their recommendations for improvement. So there review entailed not only interviews with the executive staff, the board chair, the key public stakeholders from the City and the County, key economic development partners – both public and private and quasi-public in the state of Kansas, as well as the United States. A very comprehensive review of organizational documents, financial statements and reports. Their firm has what they call their "brain trust" which is comprised principally of CEO's from different sectors throughout the U.S. economy, several of them are CEO's of major corporations and they use this "brain trust" to run ideas or findings by them to get an independent input, so they very much looked at what their findings were. And also based on their own proprietary research, they took a look at how GO Topeka as an organization stacks up against other high-performing economic development organizations of high-performing cities.

#### Major Findings - Governance:

\*Governed by the Joint Economic Development Organization of the City of Topeka and Shawnee County, Kansas. Very unique, not every City/County has this kind of relationship. It is a very strong partnership which she thinks is very foundational for this entire region and also for GO Topeka.

\*Interlocal Agreement between the Board of County Commissioners of Shawnee County, KS and the City of Topeka, KS. This document is very clear. Everyone knows what they are getting in to, what is entailed and what is expected.

\*JEDO provides Annual Agreement for Services. This agreement is also very clear. She thinks this might be indicative of the Mid-west – we are very straightforward and our documents reflect that. There is not a whole lot of confusion about what is expected of the mutual partners.

- \*Strong Board of Directors with Public and Private Sector Representation.
- \*Important Ex-Officio Representation.
- \*Clear and Concise Articles of Incorporation
- \*By-Laws Consistent with Industry Standards, Roberts Rules of Order and Legal Requirements.
- \*Cleary Articulated Board Roles, Responsibilities, Ethics Code, Disclosures.

^Key Procedures for the Organization Delineated, e.g., Issue Filter Process, Mission Statement

^Important Recognition of Affiliated Organizations

\*Meeting Agendas and Minutes Aligned; Areas of Focus Consistent with Board Responsibilities.

#### Recommendations for Governance:

\*Establish a More Clearly Defined Delineation between the Greater Topeka Chamber of Commerce and GO Topeka Economic Partnership.

\*Articulate Roles/Missions of Affiliated Organizations in the Board Orientation Manual.

## Major Findings - Organization:

- \*Highly Professional, Dedicated and Accomplished Staff.
- \*Strong Internal Alignment
- \*Clearly Articulated Organizational Structure, Mission, Goals and Programs

- \*Agile Organizational Structure
- \*Clearly Defined Rules for Staff
  - ^Organizational Chart
  - ^Position Descriptions

### Recommendations for Organization:

- \*Include Major Expectations in Each Position Description
- \*Develop/Institute Professional and Personal Development Plans for All Staff Members

# <u>Major Findings – Finances:</u>

- \*Independent Audits; No Management Letters/Issues
- \*Independent Forecast and Budget Statements
- \*Independent Financial Statements
- \*Solid Reserves and Financial Health
- \*Rigorous Reporting
- \*Exacting Budgets and Tracking of Expenditures
- \*Public and Private Funds Maintained Separately

#### Recommendations for Finances:

\*Expand JEDO Contracts to Five-Year Periods with Annual Renewals Based on Performance. Right now only year to year. Most companies today, the time frame for making a decision for a new project was compressed due to globalization but the recession has expanded that and due to economic uncertainty and it being a presidential election year, not knowing what is going to happen in Europe, the slowing of emerging economies like China and India – all are impacting private capital investment decisions on the parts of companies. So they are going to take a longer horizon, maybe 18 months to 3 year. A year to year performance contract does not communicate very positively of a long term continuity situation to GO Topeka and if GO Topeka is the primary point of contact to develop these potential new employers for the greater Topeka area then they need to be able to show the stability and continuity that she is referring to.

#### *Major Findings – Primary Functions:*

- \*Business Retention and Expansion
- \*New Business Attraction
- \*Entrepreneurship and Minority/Women Business Enterprises
- \*Workforce Development
- \*Business/Commerce Parks Development and Management
- \*Incentive Negotiation, Administration and Oversight

#### Recommendation for Primary Functions:

\*Guard against Scope Creep

## <u>Major Findings – Marketing Platforms:</u>

- \*Best-of-Class
- \*Brand Consistency
- \*Focused, Rich in Content

- \*Website is User-Friendly, Current; Rich in Content
- \*Relevant Messaging
- \*Aligned with Targeted Sectors

#### Recommendations for Marketing Platforms:

\*Guard Against Further Reduction of Marketing Budget

#### *Major Findings – Accountability:*

- \*Ambitious Strategic Frameworks and Annual Business Plans
  - ^Audacious Goals, Rationale and Anticipated Outcomes
- \*Rigorous, High Performance Metrics
- \*Exceptional Performance Tracking Committed to Paper
- \*Detailed, Evidence-Based Quarterly and Annual Reports
- \*Clearly Defined Incentive Policy
  - ^Pay for Performance
  - ^Clawback Provisions
  - <sup>^</sup>Independent CPA Company Performance Reviews
- \*Independent Economic Impact Analyses for Incentivized Projects

#### Recommendations for Accountability:

- \*Revise Quarterly/Year-End Report to Reflect Activity:
  - ^Include Executive Summary of Current/Projected Goals and Cumulative Achievements
  - ^Summarize Potential Jobs, Capital Investment, etc. of Prospect Portfolio

#### *Major Findings – Performance:*

- \*Outstanding Performance, Well-Documented Accountability
- \*Expansive Positive Economic Impact on Topeka/Shawnee County
- \*Well-Deserved, High Regarded Reputation in Economic Development within the Kansas City Region, State of Kansas and Nationally
- \*High Praises from Economic Development Allies and Site Location Consultants

## *Recommendations for Performance:*

\*To maintain outstanding performance levels, ensure that political and business support remains consistent and firmly committed.

Go Topeka's Competitive Standing – Best Practices in Economic Development

International Economic Development Council national survey of economic development organizations and related search.

- 9 Factors of Success for High Performing Economic Development Organizations:
  - 1. Driven by the customer, e.g., the company that employs people and pays taxes;
  - 2. Operate with a strategic plan grounded in the realities of the community;
  - 3. Measure results and adjust accordingly;
  - 4. Take risks;

- 5. Build strong alliances and networks;
- 6. Earn the trust and respect of their communities;
- 7. Efficient with funding and resources;
- 8. Invest in their people;
- 9. Passionate, innovative and capable leadership.

How does GO Topeka Economic Partnership compare with the best practices of high performing city EDOs? (Atlanta, Austin, Dallas, Denver, Houston, Oklahoma City, Phoenix, San Diego, Tampa)

Councilman Manspeaker indicated that he was the one who questioned the objectivity of Dr. Morfessis, with all due respect. He stated that Dr. Morfessis' speech had very little negative, she didn't find any negatives of GO Topeka during her review that she thought needed to be addressed?

Dr. Morfessis replied that they did find some things and gave their recommendations to GO Topeka but this review wasn't a witch hunt. If something was bad or negative, they definitely would have pointed it out. The recommendations for change she noted in her presentation were the things they found and pointed out.

Councilman Manspeaker stated that most of those recommendations really weren't negatives, just suggestions on tweaking things a little. He again asked if they found any glaring negatives in their review.

Dr. Morfessis indicated the only glaring negative is the relationship that GO Topeka and JEDO has with each other and she thinks it needs to be worked on. This is not based on just her observations but based on the many interviews that she had, and to her it is very troubling because this is a critical relationship and it needs to be worked on in a positive and constructive way.

Councilman Manspeaker said that she brings up an excellent point. He said that in her review he can imagine that she came across news stories that showed that there were some members of this body that have grave concerns with how GO Topeka runs their operation. Councilman Manspeaker questioned if Dr. Morfessis ever felt compelled to contact him or Councilman Gray.

Dr. Morfessis indicated that she did meet with Councilman Gray and spoke to a lot of people but she was not going to just take everyone's word for it here since, with all due respect, they are elected officials.

Councilman Manspeaker also asked about her recommendation that JEDO have 5 year contracts. He stated that currently GO Topeka does not have a bid contract, it is currently year-to-year, with no bidding process, so he wondered what the big concern was. Is Go Topeka worried they are going to lose the contract?

Dr. Morfessis replied that it was not GO Topeka's concern, it was hers because she has seen this happen in too many markets. When you have a year-to-year contract, you are jerking their chain. You are asking a company to produce economic growth but it has to be more long term because when you only have a year-to-year contract you are only going to get year-to-year snapshots that are completely out of sync with economic reality. The reality is, whether it is an existing company that is expanding, or a new company looking at a market, typically span more than a year with their evaluation process.

Councilman Manspeaker stated that Dr. Morfessis indicated that GO Topeka's marketing is very good but he wondered if she had any concerns with where GO Topeka's marketing ends and where the Topeka Chamber of Commerce begins, because often in his mind they are the same and it is very hard to differentiate between the two bodies.

Dr. Morfessis indicated that was a point she raised because many organizations where you have a Chamber and the economic development function, in many markets in the U.S., you have the same problem, what's the difference? She said in this particular case they felt it was really strong to show the clear delineation between the two.

Councilman Gray stated that he would like to go ahead and echo Councilman Manspeaker's sentiments regarding the 5 year contract recommendation – 1 year or 5 year doesn't really make any difference because they are exempt from competitive bidding. He could understand if there was competitive bidding but there isn't, GO Topeka is the de facto, there is no other option. Councilman Gray wanted to point out that during the time he and Dr. Morfessis met, and she told him she was completely objective and he believes that she was objective. With that being said, it appears from her review that GO Topeka is doing a wonderful, outstanding job and if that were the case then why are they fighting to have a professional RFP be done? Because they would win hands down, whomever they came across.

Dr. Morfessis replied that you are either a partner with you private/public partnership or you are not. She has never seen a case in the U.S., there was one in Europe that didn't work (in Austria), and she has never seen a case where a City/County has RFP'd out for groups to respond to perform economic development services because of the potential for conflicts of interest. You don't want a private company doing this, they would have zero credibility to a company gathering data that's looking. She would strongly urge this body to not mess with something that is working for it. She would not put an RFP out for economic development services.

Councilman Wolgast thanked Dr. Morfessis for her presentation and stated that it was very helpful to have an overview and it answers many of their questions. He asked about their review comparing GO Topeka to other major cities in the country. He wondered what were the criteria for making that comparison and on what basis did they make that decision.

Dr. Morfessis indicated that they relied on the best practices – what are the best practices of the highest performing urban economies in the U.S. And there were many common best practices. So this is where their "brain trust" really helped, having CEO's of private companies take a look at their work. This is a relatively small urban economy yet you have this incredibly sophisticated economic development organization.

Commissioner Ensley stated that GO Topeka is held accountable for job losses that leave this community. He wondered how do we measure that, the accountability or the lack of accountability with GO Topeka. They may be making every effort they can to hold those job and do whatever they can but when they leave, when the numbers say that the exiting jobs are greater than the ones that are incoming, they are accountable, should they be accountable, is this a national thing, how do other communities measure that.

Dr. Morfessis thanked him for his question, because a lot of communities ignore this. Topeka and Shawnee County care about their companies that are here. First and foremost, no one has control. She would not lay this on the feet of our economic development organization and most communities don't. What is really critical is what effort did the community, meaning private and public sectors, make and take to learn from the company why they are reducing jobs, why they are closing shop, or why they are leaving, what they call an exit interview. And being involved in trying to stop it from happening is very

critical and the government and private sector both play important roles. What Go Topeka can do is to have great relationships to have an early warning network so to speak and working to retain an employer.

Commissioner Ensley asked if they found any lack of effort in their review from GO Topeka, are the making that effort in terms of retaining those jobs?

Dr. Morfessis indicated that GO Topeka is spending a tremendous amount of their resources on business retention.

Commissioner Thomas wondered if Dr. Morfessis could estimate how many man hours were spent to do this report. Also, of the 9 or 10 recommendations that they made, it sounds like these are already completed or are being worked on to come in to compliance.

Dr. Morfessis indicated that GO Topeka is working on the recommendations. As far as how many person hours did they spend on this – a lot. She doesn't have a calculation she would have to ask her accountant. They started this process she believes sometime in early spring.

Councilwoman Hiller wondered if the other major cities that they compared GO Topeka to were presenting their economic development packages the same way that we are.

Dr. Morfessis indicated that many of them are – Atlanta, Oklahoma City, many of them have a private/public partnership.

Councilwoman Hiller asked about other models, is there a better way to do it, for attracting and keeping jobs that is not as costly. As the board looks to renew the contract and renew the commitment to one another, she would wonder would we do it the same way or is there some other way that would be better.

Dr. Morfessis indicated that these models for economic development or morphing, where they are going – that is yet to be totally understood because of global competition which didn't exist 10 years ago to the level it does today. All of these models have to change because the dynamics of the world's economy change. Her recommendation to the City/County would be to sit down and really have a heart-to-heart with GO Topeka because they are doing great for now but that doesn't mean they are going to be doing great 5 years from now. So what do we need to be anticipating and understanding, what's going on in that national marketplace, what's going on in the global marketplace that is going to impact our economy and how do we prepare for that.

Councilwoman Hiller asked if there are resources that they could look at to learn about different models.

Dr. Morfessis said absolutely – the International Economic Development Council have webinars and they hold a national conference in Houston, that is typically where the new, innovative ideas are rolled out.

Councilman Manspeaker asked if Dr. Morfessis would encourage them to have a JEDO retreat where they all sit down and discuss economic development, its future and its context and everything else.

Dr. Morfessis said she most definitely would. The closer the relationship – she thinks part of economic development is educating the educated, bringing in experts on different topics.

Councilman Manspeaker addressed Commissioner Buhler and said he would put the idea to her to maybe schedule something like this after the elections, maybe this fall; they could all have a discussion like this. He very much wants economic development to work in the City of Topeka he just has some grave

concerns about how it is working and he feels like an open discussion with experts, exchanging ideas and coming up with new and different paths to go down is exactly what we should be doing.

Commissioner Buhler thinks this could be expanded on.

Dr. Morfessis indicated that she would not do this at the expense of GO Topeka.

Councilman Manspeaker stated it is important to remember and that for him the economic development arm of this community is JEDO. GO Topeka is the contractor for JEDO that provides that service. He would like everyone on this body to keep in mind, they all should be economic development experts.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter has some questions he would like to put on the record. He wondered if the consultant reviewed the minutes of JEDO which are online. Did she review for conflicts of interest between the officers and board members between the Chamber and GO Topeka because that is always a concern when you are setting up a corporation, at least it should be a very big legal concern. They have the same officers in both organizations. Did she review U.S. Census data on jobs and job losses in this County over the last 10 to 12 years? Did she review the quarterly financial reports that JEDO hasn't been getting from GO Topeka as per the contract. He hasn't seen but one set of them that come up to this organization and he thinks that was about a year ago and that was after he requested for them several times. Did she review the bylaws with GO Topeka? One of the concerns he has about the bylaws of GO Topeka is that all of the board members must be approved by the Chamber and he is seeing an awful lot of conflict of interest here because this is public money. He really does not agree with their mission and he is very concerned that GO Topeka doesn't have any oversight and the separation that he wants in an economic development organization. The consultant said that GO Topeka is very accountable and he was wondering who to because we are having trouble getting accountability with the JEDO oversight organization. He didn't just start this a couple of weeks ago or a few months ago. He started asking questions a long time ago and he started asking a lot of questions in 2010 as soon as he finished law school. He had a lot of questions and he still has a lot of the same questions and he is not getting the answers he wants. He also wonders how GO Topeka can they be accountable to JEDO when JEDO only has a meeting every 8 months. That is not accountability. Is that GO Topeka's fault, do they set the agenda, do they say when JEDO has meetings. JEDO is supposed to be setting the meetings and asking the questions that are on the agendas. It is past time that JEDO start to have quarterly meetings and start letting the public have some input as to how this money is being spent. The public is a lot brighter than you may think. The public has a lot of ideas but they have to be invited and be allowed to comment. He thinks some of the ideas that have come out of these meetings, he could have gotten some better ideas from 5<sup>th</sup> graders. He would never have put a 400 foot wind tower next to an airbase. He heard that for this review, chamber members were contacted, elected officials, but he didn't hear about just basic members of the public. The minutes of JEDO, which are posted online, reflect concerns from the public. It sounds like a lot of people were left out. Why is there no competition on this contract? There is nobody brighter here than who is in this room, there is nobody else who could possibly compete? He does not believe that, he believes competition is good and he believes transparency is even better. The laws of Kansas - cash basis law. You can't set one of these up with public money - a multi-year contract, it's got to be year-to-year, period in Kansas. KORA/KOMA – these are concerns that are in Kansas laws - Open Meetings Act, Open Records Act. He has a lot of concerns about why we can't get records of spending of GO Topeka. He is talking about after projects are complete, why can't we find out. Why can't we get the minutes of GO Topeka. Simple things that if you are a quasi-public organization that you should be very forthcoming with minutes and quarterly reports. He thinks what is missing most of all from this whole process, besides the lack of transparency, is just the lack of input from the public.

Commissioner Buhler indicated to Mr. Ledbetter that the JEDO agenda packet included Dr. Morfessis' presentation which indicates which documents were reviewed.

Councilman Alcala asked Dr. Morfessis when she looked at the U.S. census on jobs, what did it show?

Dr. Morfessis indicated that they looked at the socioeconomic demographics of Topeka and Shawnee County and saw that over time, the community has been stable. The Kansas City market is stable, there is a lot of relationship between the two. So as compared to other Kansas cities that declined perhaps maybe more. It was not a surprising story to see that there was not a huge spurt of growth and it was not surprising to see a loss of jobs and the fact is that a loss of jobs in a market such as Topeka, which doesn't have every company in the U.S. lined up wanting to locate here and most cities in the U.S. do not. The fact that we have gone through two major recessions since 2000 and there are between Topeka has held its own. So on par with the mid-West, Topeka has held its own. Other cities have had dramatic decreases in jobs. Topeka has very diverse range of big employers that are driving more employment and she thinks we are very well positioned for economic recovery once we start to feel it nationally.

Councilman Alcala asked Dr. Morfessis if she reviewed the bylaws of the organization.

Dr. Morfessis replied absolutely she did. They were very consistent with all comparable bylaws, Roberts Rules of Order. The way that these organizations are structured, there is nothing out of the ordinary with the bylaws.

# ITEM NO. 5: CONSIDERATION of authorization of purchase of land for Phase 2 of Kanza Fire Commerce Park.

Jeff Wietharn, counsel for GO Topeka conducted the presentation. GO Topeka is seeking authority to exercise some options regarding purchase of land. For some background, he would like to show them what they are talking about on a map which was provided in the agenda packet. GO Topeka has acquired Phase 1 east of Highway 75, that is where Mars (Mars Chocolate North America) is located. There is some other land that they are looking to develop as well. Back in 2009 they tried to acquire that and they also started to tie up and take options of some land west of Highway 75 and they have three parcels that they optioned back in 2009. There is a large portion over 500 acres (outlined in blue) that they have an option on through the end of this year. Right in the middle of it is a 40 acre tract (outlined in yellow), and there is also a 3 acre parcel with a residence in the middle of the 40 acre tract, that he is discussing tonight. This entire side of Highway 75 (west side), they now refer to as Phase 2 of the Kanza Fire Commerce Park. In 2009 when they were looking to acquire this, they found this 40 acre tract right in the middle of Phase 2 so that is something that they had to try to obtain an option on. The challenge is that is has a house on it and a large truck barn and they really couldn't have that in the middle of Phase 2. The smaller, 3 acre tract in the middle is owned by Chester Platt, Jr. and his wife, Dawn Platt, this is the one with the residence on it. The larger tract surrounding that is owned by Chester Platt, Sr. and is approximately 37 acres and has a large truck barn on it. The options in 2009 as drafted, they would have to exercise the options to purchase the property by end of August, 2012 and it would close within 120 days and would allow them to move their improvements of those parcels. The purchase prices for the tracts are \$221,250 for the smaller parcel, because of the residence on it and the large parcel of 37 acres would be \$181,250. To obtain both options, they paid \$12,500 to each of them and that amount is applied against the purchase prices. Those options were presented to JEDO back in 2009 and ratified at that time. This is a package deal, it is father and son and the options are drafted as such that they must exercise both options or neither, they can't just take one or the other. So tonight, GO Topeka is seeking authority to exercise the options before they expire at the end of August. GO Topeka is also asking for authority to extend those options if that is viable. They have had some communications with the landowners; they have been in limbo for three years, not knowing if they were going to get a knock on their door saying that GO Topeka would want to buy the property. He doesn't get the sense that they are really excited about extending that much farther.

Councilman Gray stated that from the numbers that were given, a total of \$402,500 was going to be spent to purchase these two properties and it is 40 acres total so that comes to over \$10,000 per acre. He wants to know is this reasonable market value for this area?

Mr. Wietharn responded that the struggle they are up against – the residence was appraised by the Shawnee County appraiser at about \$173,000 in 2009, our purchase price is \$221,250. We are looking at a situation where we knocked on their doors and said "hey I know the property isn't listed, we would like to buy your property", and to make this Phase 2 come together we really needed to buy their property. The son (Chester Platt, Jr.) just built this house in 2000. So they have had some struggles, they had to negotiate a price for this property. He believes that GO Topeka negotiated the best deal that they could.

Councilman Gray stated that didn't really answer his question – is that fair market value in that area?

Mr. Wietharn stated that fair market has different meanings. The Shawnee County Appraiser at that time thought that the property from what he would call an appraisal standpoint was worth around \$173,000, whether that is right on or not, who knows. The fact is, appraisals don't set prices. You have to negotiate the price and in this situation given the circumstances and the location, these properties are very important to GO Topeka.

Councilman Gray indicated that it is also his understanding is that approximately 25% of this property is wetlands.

Doug Kinsinger indicated that is not correct.

Councilman Wolgast asked if GO Topeka now owns the land surrounding this property?

Mr. Wietharn said no, they have an option on that property (over 500 acres) that is good through the end of this year. That land is primarily agricultural land with no improvements.

Councilman Wolgast stated that this whole area west of Highway 75 is Phase 2, this particular parcel being discussed is because we have a deadline and we need to make a decision, so that really is what they are looking at tonight.

Mr. Wietharn replied correct, the deadline is August 31<sup>st</sup>.

Councilman Manspeaker indicated that first of all, Shawnee County might be losing out on some money if this land is selling for \$10,000 per acre because that sounds like prime land to him. He questioned if this land is part of the 4,000 acres that they failed to be told about that was rezoned? JEDO was not made aware of the rezoning of that land, it just came before the County Commission about 6 or 7 months ago.

Mr. Wietharn indicated that yes, this land is part of the rezoning effort that was implemented.

Commissioner Buhler asked whether this property is the only property with a residence on it in that whole area and have the property owners already agreed to this amount.

Mr. Wietharn indicated that yes this is the only property with a residence and yes the price that GO Topeka would pay was set forth in the option agreement made back in 2009.

Commissioner Thomas wondered if the property owner has an opportunity to lease back, assuming if JEDO doesn't move to act immediately on this issue, rather than displace them immediately.

Mr. Wietharn stated that was not provided for specifically in the contract. They give them 120 to 180 days to move the house or move out.

Mayor Bunten indicated that the Kanza Fire Commerce Park has been underway for years, and is the reason we have been able to attract these companies to Topeka. We have spent a great deal of money getting water and electricity out there, fixing roads. This is another step towards having a commerce park that will be available to get it "shovel ready". *Mayor Bunten then made a motion that authority be granted to exercise the two options to acquire the properties*.

Mr. Wietharn indicated that they would also need some reasonable amounts to close the deals but the main prices have been set – the total purchase price at closing will be \$337,500. There may be some closing costs (title issues, things like that). *Councilman Wolgast seconded the motion*.

Councilman Manspeaker wants to voice his concern that they are purchasing a property in which they have seen very little information about – no appraisals, no value, there is no detail but one piece of paper that says they need to buy it, they are buying \$400,000 worth of land based on a piece of paper.

Councilwoman Hiller stated that her remarks would be directed perhaps to their counsel regarding the motion – it appears that the document they have, on page 108, there are three paragraphs and it starts with "GO Topeka requests the authority to purchase to exercise the options..." This paragraph details the prices and in the 3<sup>rd</sup> paragraph asks JEDO to give them the option to extend the options. Does GO Topeka need JEDO to approve these three paragraphs as the Motion?

Mr. Wietharn said yes, he doesn't think extending the options is an option.

Councilwoman Hiller requested to make a substitute motion to use the language on page 108 of the agenda as the motion. Mayor Bunten seconded.

Further discussion – Mayor Bunten wants to state that Councilman Manspeaker's comments are a little misleading regarding that all they are basing this decision on is one piece of paper. This has been ongoing for years and years, they have been working towards economic development and the primary thing that they had to have is a commerce park, and they have piece by piece put it together and extended the utilities out there and today they are asking to purchase another piece.

Councilman Manspeaker replied that in the interest of fiscal responsibility, we should want more information about what we are purchasing here, it is 40 acres being purchased at \$10,000 per acre, there is no acreage in Shawnee County that is worth that much.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that this agreement was put together back in 2009 and it was all negotiated back then.

Mr. Wietharn indicated yes, part of the property identified at this time in a county-wide land study of where the commerce park should go, this was part of the property that was identified at that point in time. Since taking the options, they have had the opportunity to conduct a Phase 1 environmental study, they have done the title work on it and they have not seen any roadblocks to development – they still have to develop it, of course.

Councilman Alcala stated that if we don't take the option now it could cost us \$20,000 an acre instead of \$10,000.

Mayor Bunten commented that the value of a piece of property at any particular point in time and what it is worth is what a willing seller and a willing buyer agree to, and that is what we have here.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter indicated that the book he is holding is a 750 page GO Topeka document, which he is sure the consultant never saw, and it talks about this industrial land site and a lot of JEDO members have never seen it because he asked. He acquired this in 2010 through a KORA with GO Topeka and it cost him \$200. He will pass it around to the JEDO members in a minute because he is going to show them pictures of wetlands. Not this, but there are other pieces of land that are tied in to this Kwanza (sic) Park that are wetlands. This one page document is all they got to consider to buy this land. For approximately 500 years, going back into common law we have always dealt with land – it is called the statute of frauds, there has to be a writing. If you are going to buy, you have to have a writing. Not a vague description but you have to have a writing of what you are buying with a legal description, price, terms or in other words a written contract. And he has looked at packets of government before, this is what this is, this is government, this is not private, we are dealing with public money so this puts a lot more scrutiny on what you are doing. The Mayor correctly said they don't do this with this body, they don't get appraisals, in fact they don't even ask for contracts in the past when they have bought land, title work, legal descriptions and the reason that he knows this is because it is not in the minutes and also because he went and got those documents and those options in 2010 from GO Topeka through KORA's which are very costly. He had to pay for research time, copying fees. Now that is what he calls transparency, a public citizen just wants to know how his money got spent. He doesn't want to have to ask for these things after the fact. He wants them to ask these questions now on the record and get it, get the appraisals, get the contracts, get the title work, the legal description, the environmental studies before they buy it. Mr. Ledbetter wants to also know why they want to buy a house. What are they going to do with the house once they own it – are they going to move it, demolish it, what is its purpose. These are questions they should ask when they are doing your fiduciary duties as public elected officials. Do your due diligence. They may have to buy it because they signed a contract but that is not his problem. Your urgency is not his emergency. He wondered how long have they known about this meeting? They haven't had one for 8 months. Couldn't they have gotten these documents together and brought them to the meeting. He looked at the minutes and he did ask direct questions from the person who sold the land - Mr. Henry McClure. In 2006 he also didn't get an appraisal on 75 acres, they also didn't get a purpose and that land is north of 49<sup>th</sup> Street and it is still vacant. Now they get hay and beans off of it and that is something. They have a fiduciary duty as a trust to at least make the land earn something. And that is Kansas law, not Maryland law. There are still, according to the documents and the minutes of the Planning Commission meetings, that rezoning of 4,000 acres that was done earlier this year. It is still out there that 400 acres of the original site that they still haven't developed at Central Crossing. He doesn't know why there is such an urgency for this purchase of land other than they have a timeline and he is not going to argue about that. Maybe they have time is of the essence written into their contracts, but he doesn't know, because he hasn't looked at them because they are not here to be looked at. The problem he has is not so much what they are asking JEDO to do but what is missing and why, other than there is an urgency from their contract that they made 3 years ago, they are coming to JEDO and saying we just have to have it now. Mr. Ledbetter than beings to pass his binder around, because these are wetlands – this is part of the Kanza Fire Commerce Park Phase 2, it is all linked together. When we are dealing with public money it is a higher scrutiny. You guys get that, you do it at the County Commission on land, you do it at the City Council on land, why is it not done with JEDO? He doesn't understand the distinction maybe he went to school too many years. He again questions what are they going to be doing with the residence since it is the middle of an industrial park – is it going to be demolished, moved.

Councilman Manspeaker wanted to respond to one of Mr. Ledbetter's questions – he found out about this meeting on July 18<sup>th</sup>, about 8 days ago and he had 24 hours in which to put agenda items on the agenda.

Mr. Wietharn indicated it is his understanding that they absolutely do not want the residence there. That was what the challenge was and importance of them buying this property since they didn't want it there in the middle of the Commerce park. The option allows the owners to remove that within the period of time, 180 days after the exercise the option, if they want to spend a fortune to move their house they would be thrilled because otherwise yes they would have to, he assumes, tear it down because it is not consistent with the use of the land that they are planning on.

Angela Sharp, Bartlett & West, advised she could address the concerns regarding the investigations that have been done on the property. Terracon did a Phase 1 assessment as well as soil borings on the property and did not find any detrimental effects on the property. She also indicated that there are no wetlands on the properties that they are considering tonight. There are some ponds on the balance of the property but according to the map of the original concept plan that was prepared as part of the site analysis that was done back in 2009. And in this concept plan, you will see that through this area of the property is a common green space area that was planned as an amenity to the park (walking trails and public spaces) and it does encompass the wetlands that were identified in the study, so they did take that into consideration.

Commissioner Buhler then asked to take a vote on the motion. *Motion carried 5 to 1*, with Councilman *Gray dissenting*.

Councilman Gray asked that they be allowed to take a 5 minutes recess at 8:10 p.m.

Commissioner Buhler called the meeting back to order at 8:24 p.m.

# ITEM NO. 6: CONSIDERATION authorizing Shawnee County to provide all administrative support to JEDO every year.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that she placed this item on the agenda for discussion and possible action. The City of Topeka is very gracious to provide their Chambers and their personnel to produce the television broadcast. Shawnee County would like to offer their ongoing support in an effort to make sure that the public isn't confused. She thinks sometimes the going back and forth on who is keeping the minutes are adding come confusion to the public. This is an attempt to have one body do that work and the Shawnee County Counselor's staff has agreed to do that. She also indicated that if there is action on this item then it would be added to the JEDO Operational Rules.

Councilman Wolgast asked for a description of this support.

Commissioner Buhler indicated it would be the taking of the minutes, posting the minutes online and posting of any documents.

Rich Eckert, Shawnee County Counselor stated that over the years, 10 of them now, whenever they switched over there were issues, for instance between the County Clerk and the City Clerk, there were just some issues about making sure we all had the exact same paperwork and it is just much more convoluted then it has to be. He calls this theory the "one throat to choke" theory, if something is messed up then we know who did it and there is no conversation and no finger pointing. And since this is a countywide tax it makes sense that the County would provide the administrative support.

Councilman Wolgast just wanted to clarify that this wouldn't mean no more changing back and forth on the legal counsel, or would the legal counsel always be the County then.

Mr. Eckert said that would be up to the JEDO Board in how they phrase their motion. The problem for legal counsel, and it is the same problem for him as it is for the City Attorney – Mary Feighney or whoever it would be, his client is the Board of County Commissioners, that is who his attorney-client privilege is with and that won't change. When Mary (Feighney) sits here she has the exact same issue, her attorney-client privilege is with the City of Topeka. So as far as who the legal counsel is, it doesn't matter, because they will always have this problem of who the privilege is with but that is up for the JEDO Board to consider.

Councilman Wolgast indicated that he likes the partnership aspect and he thinks the administrative support is one thing that one or the other bodies could have. However he thinks the partnership with the legal counsel, just as the JEDO Chair rotates; he thinks the legal counsel should rotate similarly. He would be hesitant to have their legal counsel always be the County Counselor.

Mr. Eckert stated that the issue would be it would always be his office that would be providing the administrative support; he is offering his office to do it all to get the County and City Clerk's out of it. It is always going to flow through his office and it just makes sense to do it through one shop.

Councilman Gray wondered if this would also include a link on the County website for JEDO documents.

Mr. Eckert indicated that right now the County links to the City of Topeka's website but if this goes through, the County would take control of it and the County would put it all out there that can be agendas, minutes – on the County site and the City can link to it or they can mirror it, either way.

Councilman Gray stated that he was extremely hesitant about this because of the communication issues in the past between the County and the City. Just as Councilman Manspeaker indicated earlier, he didn't find out about this meeting either until Wednesday, when he checked his email while on vacation. He asked could this come back on the agenda for the next JEDO meeting with the roles of this administrative support being more defined because he also would like the City attorney to be here when it is the City's turn and if the County wants to take over the administrative aspect and carry that burden, he doesn't think he would have a problem with that, he would like that partnership between the County and the City.

Councilman Manspeaker indicated that he thinks the County Counselor brings up a good point regarding who the attorneys represent. His argument regarding the best possible route they could take would be to have an independent attorney that represents the JEDO Board alone and doesn't represent the County or the City. He believes in the past, with all due respect, the County Counselor has sued the City of Topeka.

Mr. Eckert responded that he has never sued the City. The County has been sued by the City, so yes when the City has sued the County he has represented the County in that instance.

Councilman Manspeaker thinks it does create some conflict and having an independent attorney that would only represent this body, that conflict of interest wouldn't come into play at all. Councilman Manspeaker also indicated that as far as maintaining the records, he thinks it is important that the City should maintain all records possible for their taxpayers and their citizens to be able to access through the City. No disrespect to the County but at the end of the day they are elected to their respective bodies and therefore they serve a purpose, until the infinite wisdom of the voters decides to merge these two bodies together, which he is in full support of, they still have to function as two separate governments and there is no reason why one entity should have more or less control than the other.

Mayor Bunten indicated that he thinks this is a generous offer. The JEDO Board meets no more than 3 or 4 times a year and they scarcely ever have to have an opinion offered by legal counsel. He thinks to have all the information in one place would be a positive. And he is sure that their City Attorney staff would be very pleased if this was all done by the County.

Councilwoman Hiller stated that she also appreciates the offer but would concur with Councilman Gray. If they are going to vote on this issue, she would hope that for this evening it would just remain a discussion since it is a new issue. Overall she really likes collaborations and this has been a good one. But also her approach to problem solving is "if it ain't broke, don't fix it." What was broken about their system was toggling back and forth from City to County for the record keeping and with finding records we didn't have a joint repository for a long time so if you needed something from December of 2009 you would have to go on one side of the street but the follow up the following April it would be the other side of the street and that was mind numbing to her to imagine someone trying to research a trail of a certain subject. Over the last year or so various folks have worked to centralize that and the discussion was can we have a central website, should JEDO be keeping these minutes and be the primary resource. It looked like to her that the decision was made that we could keep toggling back and forth on the minute taking and preparation but we would work out to have a joint web access so people only had to go to one place to retrieve documents. She questioned whether we were still keeping two sets of documents at the City and County side.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that it looks like from the websites that the City has the bulk of those documents and the County is linking to that.

Mr. Eckert indicated that the County does have their own set of paper copies but the County has a bit of a problem in that the County Clerk is independent of the Board of County Commissioners where the City Clerk is not so the County has a little bit of a hitch in that is that is one of the other things that the County is trying to fix. He is not blaming the County Clerk, the County Clerk does a fine job.

Councilman Hiller stated that to simplify things, they need to make sure that somebody has a complete set of documents and that it is easy for any of them to get to them would be her top priority. She questioned if the County's problem was that in the past the County Clerk has been the minute taker.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that her only reason to bring this forward is to simplify and even if that means not bringing in the County Counselor, but if the County just kept the minutes and the clerical piece of it would be impacted.

Councilman Gray made a motion to have this deferred until the next JEDO meeting until the roles and responsibilities of the City and County and of this potential partnership can be better defined. Councilman Wolgast seconded the motion.

Councilwoman Hiller stated that it sounds to her that what is emerging out of this discussion is if there were to be a proposal next time it might just be on the clerical end.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that there has also been a discussion of having a retreat or something of that nature and it has been awhile since they have looked at their operational rules and if there are others that have some additions or changes to operational rules then she could entertain agenda items based on that and they could look at the operational rules in its entirety.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter stated that when he saw this item on the agenda he honestly saw at least a little merit to it, although he is opposed to it. When he first started looking into GO Topeka and its oversight organization called JEDO, which is elected officials that are directly responsible to the citizens

of Topeka, not GO Topeka, but JEDO oversees them and then answer to us, we the citizens of the city and county. He said "where are the records?", because the first thing he wanted to look at was the minutes of what's been going on and he had to go back and forth across the street between the years. The City Clerk was especially cooperative and she has been very good. In fact she made copies for the County, he believes, so they could have a complete set. He indicated that one of the things that makes it inappropriate to discuss this tonight is that the County Clerk isn't here. He doesn't think she is all that excited about JEDO meetings, but whether she is or isn't, she gets to say that for herself and to what she believes her duties are. He thinks she should be here before they take a vote so she can talk to them about what she believes her role is. Whether they like it or not, this money is very important. Any money that is public is important, but when you are dealing with \$5 million a year there ought to be some serious transparency and accountability and as a citizen he should have been able to walk in to either office and just look at these documents and he couldn't do it. So through a lot of pressure and lobbying, we got those situations pretty much fixed. And now the City Clerk does a really good job at putting these minutes online and in fact he likes the City Clerk's minutes because they are very detailed and he wants them that way, he wants what was said -13 pages of documents for a meeting that happened 8 months ago is good because then we at least have a record established of who said what, what the complaints were, what the suggestions were, was he just nay saying or was he actually offering real concrete solutions and they are in the minutes and he likes that. It concerns him that those minutes might change in how they are done, they may just be little summaries and he is not interested in those kind of minutes and neither should you, the people who are elected, you should want detailed minutes. Mr. Ledbetter stated he wished JEDO would have regular meetings and then there would be less confusion. He recommended that JEDO should at least have quarterly meetings so they can know what is going on with their economic development funds. Another problem that he has with the County doing this is that when he went over to the County to get their public records, he had to pay \$.50 cents per page, he had to pay that himself, he didn't like it but that is what he had to do. That is what he calls transparency, that is a burden and a barrier to the citizens. He doesn't like paying \$.25 cents per page from the City Clerk but at least that is better than \$.50 cents per page. So if the County is not willing to lower their amount, which should be \$.25 cents per page anyways, he definitely isn't interested in the County doing this because he may need to go get records. So it should be \$.25 cents per page maximum and he still thinks that is too high, he thinks that is a barrier to transparency. It also concerns him that last year the County Commission did pass a resolution to put these minutes online, but they didn't do it, they just put a link on, he doesn't think that was what the intent of that resolution was, as he recalls. So again, he is not sure that the County is fulfilling their obligations, even that they gave themselves. Also there is another issue that he wants to bring up and that is about the attorney's responsibilities. What he thinks is potentially a conflict is that you have to have a County Counselor here some of the times and then you have a City Counselor here and these people have been in conflict with each other, and he does believe that the County sued the City over some annexation but he could be wrong. Either way it doesn't matter, once you are engaged as the lawyer, you are representing that side and that's your ethical responsibility so he doesn't think Councilman Manspeaker is offering such a bad idea to have independent counsel for JEDO. They don't meet that often so it wouldn't cost too much but they definitely need to be independent of the City and County and from GO Topeka and the Chamber, they need to be somebody who is not tied to those organizations so that you can have legal counsel if you need it. While Mayor Bunten did say that he hasn't heard a lot of legal questions posed, that doesn't mean you wouldn't in the future. He considers it a legal question as to why you don't have appraisals and contracts in these meetings when you are buying land, but that is his opinion. On the face of this proposal, he is uncomfortable with it because it is so easy to work with the City Clerk, she keeps a very good bunch of records. But at least have the County Clerk here to explain where's she at on this issue and explain why she has a higher fee and maybe should adjust that and explain some of the other things. He would like them to defer this and have some more discussion and get some more answers.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that a motion has been made and seconded and while she brought this up to simplify things but is hearing that they want more discussion and it might bring out broader discussion on operational rules. *Motion to defer this item carried 5 to 1, with Mayor Bunten dissenting.* 

#### ITEM NO. 7: REPORT from Heartland Visioning.

Councilman Manspeaker indicated that he is interesting in hearing from the Director of Heartland Visioning and hearing a report of what has been going on with them and what they are up to.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that they also have the Co-Chairs present as well -Gina Millsap and Harry Craig.

William Beteta, Executive Director for Heartland Visioning, thanked the Board for having them. He indicated when they first got word about the meeting they were not exactly sure what the purpose was so he might need some direction. He heard that it was asked to have the Report to the Community on the agenda so he was under the assumption that they had the Community Report. He stated that as their commitment has always been, they said they would put a report back out to the community each year. This is their most recent report, speaking about what has been transpiring in our community always trying to let the community know what is happening. One of the things they learned in their first year is how much they didn't know what was happening, all these things they collected from the community as far as what people perceive to see as their desire to see where Topeka and Shawnee County will be in 20 years. They found out there are a lot of things happening so this report is trying to provide that. Now the thing about doing this report is that it is limited, the size of it, so this year they were able to add additional information on their website under the community report, so there are more items on there than just this. The key component to measure how things are going, as they took from their contractor, Henry Luke, are the Key Benchmarks which are on page 2 of this report. The intent of these Key Benchmarks was primarily as a barometer. If they see an impact in these areas they felt that it would indicate they are moving in the right direction.

## *Key Benchmark – Growing Community*

Benchmark – Shawnee County's population will increase 1.0 percent annually for 10 years and continue to grow 1.5 percent annually in the next 10 years.

Status – Population grown in Shawnee County was .90 percent in 2010 with the population totaling 177,934. This is an increase from the 2009 population of 176,255. The increase is .10 percent short of the benchmark target of 1.0 percent growth annually.

Additional information on how we grew:

- \*Topeka's population grew to 127,473; a 2.4 percent increase
- \* Ages 70-74 was our greatest growth of 955; a 15 percent increase
- \* Ages 35-39 was our greatest loss of 947; a 10 percent decrease

#### Key Benchmark – Public Safety

He believes we all know what is happening regarding public safety. It is an area of strong interest and he believes is a good barometer and a good benchmark to use. Organizations like Safe Streets working with the City and the County are trying to work on that so one of the things they wanted to look at this year was to see what they can do. They want to ask them how can they help to have an impact and get that moving in the right direction and of course they want to see crime go down. But they know there are specific areas where crime is an issue.

Benchmark – Shawnee County will be the safest county with a capital city and population above 100.000 in the USA.

Status – During 2010, the per capita crime rate in Shawnee County rose to 5,304. This was up from 2009 per capita crime rate of 4,954, an increase of 350 crimes.

The top two crimes in 2010 were burglaries and motor vehicle thefts. This year, property crimes were up 741 crimes.

# <u>Key Benchmark – Dynamic Downtown Topeka</u>

They have had a problem in setting a target benchmark for this. The thing that he can best report on is just the progress that has taken place in downtown; trying to work forward on the idea to revitalize downtown. They see that there has been effort to move forward so they see that as a positive at this point in time.

Benchmark – Though the benchmark has not been established for this area, a dynamic downtown is seen as an indicator of success taking place in Topeka and Shawnee County.

Status – December, 2011, the City of Topeka contracted RDG Planning & Design to complete a conceptual design for a two block stretch of S. Kansas Avenue from Seventh Street to Ninth Street. Five million dollars has been budgeted by the city for revitalization of Downtown Topeka.

A final conceptual plan was presented on May 8, 2012.

### <u>Key Benchmark – Prosperous Community</u>

When they set this benchmark with their contractor – it has been difficult for them to translate it and it is one of those benchmarks that they feel they need to change, because it needs to make for sense to them. The intent was to show what the average wage is being earned in the community and is it going up or going down. The way the benchmark is currently written is a little confusing and so they need to fix that.

Benchmark – Shawnee County's average wage earned will be .75 percent above the U.S. average.

Status – Shawnee County's change in average weekly wages earned was below the U.S. average by -1.5 percent. Shawnee County's average weekly wage for the first quarter of 2011 was \$751 versus the national weekly average of \$935. We did not meet our benchmark to be .75 percent above the U.S. average.

#### <u>Key Benchmark – Quality of Life</u>

This benchmark was not included in their report, because the publication it was set to draw from, as far as how the City and the County compare with other regions in the community, was last published in 2006-200707 and hasn't been updated since.

From the Key Benchmark standpoint, they do things happening positively in the community. Heartland Visioning continues to coordinate and facilitate and promote, that is their intent. They have facilitated about 230 hours of meetings this year and that doesn't include the typical prep and post time that takes place in a meeting like that. When they look at the entire year, they estimate that all the time they spent preparing and facilitating and post meeting work at over 1,000 hours - trying to work with as many

organizations as possible that they can be assisting. The rest of the report identifies a few projects that they were able to fit in the report but the website shows additional projects that are taking place in the community and they are happening by a lot of different people and organizations.

Councilman Manspeaker stated that when this organization started (4 years ago) there was a big turnout for the meetings, thousands of people came and spoke. Do they still have big meetings like that anymore?

Mr. Beteta indicated that the largest meeting held since that time was in February, 2010 that was regarding downtown to see if the community was really engaged in doing that. Early on he did try to initiate some smaller discussions and go around the community, those weren't structured quite right and he wants to get back to them to keep a continual dialogue. What they are working on this year is setting up a schedule and a process and to go back out in to the community. One of the things that they learned from Henry Luke (their contractor) is the three "R" process - review, revise, refocus. Right now they are in the process of reviewing what has been going on and looking to see are there areas that they can improve or change. Revise their process, revise their intent and then refocus and go back out to the community again, but their intent is to go back out in to the broader community to give people as much as an opportunity as possible to engage. They are looking at doing this very strategically, not just going to the public but going to elected officials, the County Commission, the City Council individually or in groups to see if they are still headed in the right direction.

Councilman Manspeaker asked about the teams that have been put together – the Education Team, Quality of Life Team, and the Economic Development Team – do those teams meet on a regular basis?

Mr. Beteta indicated that about half of them do. This has been a process, they bought a process back in 2008 from Mr. Luke, he took them through it and set them up with the foundation teams and then they carried it from there and this is one of the things that they need to review. The Government Foundation Team which is chaired by Commissioner Buhler and Ben Tenpenny meets on a regular basis. The Quality of Life Team meets on a regular basis. The Education Team, until recently they have had so much change where people existed in their professional lives, was meeting regularly but has no kind of dropped back. The other teams not so much. But that is one thing that they need to improve on because otherwise how are they getting this done. The idea is that it is not Heartland Visioning doing this work, they are just an office of two, but this whole thing is about the community and doing it together.

Councilman Manspeaker indicated that another things that comes up before the City Council on regular basis, they talk about things like infrastructure or downtown development, but while downtown development hasn't come to a vote as it stands right now there is not necessarily the support on the City Council to get that passed. Infrastructure is another example where they haven't been able to coalesce the support on the City Council to pass a water infrastructure plan. One of his major concerns is that he feels very much that Heartland Visioning lobbies the City on a pro downtown development plan. He doesn't think there is a cross-section of the community that agrees with that concept or else they would have seen it pass much quicker from this body without so much consternation. From his perspective, if Heartland Visioning was functioning in the right way it would be gathering data and working with folks within in the community to try to figure out what that downtown structure works like. He questioned if that was part of Heartland Visioning's plan or direction. He knows that there have been meetings in the past, but from what he understands those meetings were not always open, people could attend them but the views discussed at those meetings were not always met with great regard or they were boxed out and not a part of the process, so to speak and he thinks that is part of why downtown is failing because some of those folks that felt they should have been part of the process haven't been able to plug in.

Mr. Beteta indicated that again that is another area that they need to look at to see if it is being done the right way. The intent is always to be a public community activity. By no means are any of them experts on this. They are trying to be a private non-profit and work with a constituency of 127,000 people. There are areas that they need to improve on.

Gina Millsap, Heartland Visioning Executive Board Co-Chair and Executive Director, Topeka and Shawnee County Public Library, indicated that she decided to take this role on (Co-Chair) in addition to her day job specifically because they are at a really pivotal point with Heartland Visioning's journey. The question that Councilman Manspeaker asked about what they call the "foundations", what they are dealing with is a strategic plan that was approved by thousands of community members. To keep faith with the community, they have to go back to them now and touch base and so what we have got in this plan are a combination of aspirations, which are wonderful but not actionable, we've got value statements, which again are wonderful but not actionable and then we have strategies. And one of the strategies was the redevelopment of downtown. Now if the interest of the community has waned or changed then they certainly need to determine that but they have to keep faith first that the current strategic plan is still valid until they hear otherwise. It is their intent throughout the fall and probably going in to the winter to have a series of community meetings. They have discussed process as far as what is the best way to reach the greatest number of people and most likely those huge community meetings, where you might have 300 to 500 people in a room, but not everyone is comfortable speaking in front of that many people is probably not the best venue. They are talking about having a significant number of meetings that would include neighborhood improvement associations, neighborhood associations, and other types of gatherings. And another piece of their intent going forward is capacity building which means that they want to train a cohort of community grassroots leaders in facilitation techniques so that they have the skill set to go out and really work with groups of citizens and get their feedback.

Councilman Manspeaker asked what the Government Foundation Team does.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that they work from the list of priorities that were set in the plan in November, 2009. They meet every other month and they have hosted a number of initiatives and worked in conjunction with the Intergovernmental Cooperation Council to work with them on some projects. They are hosting a mayor/township official luncheon coming up on Monday just to talk about issues, getting to know one another. They meet at Jones Huyett and their next meeting is August 9th. She doesn't believe their minutes are not on there yet for this year but they are on the Heartland Visioning website.

Councilman Manspeaker questioned if it is the intent of the Government Team to encourage or discourage citizens for running for office?

Commissioner Buhler responded that there is nothing in their strategies about this. The Candidate School is a different initiative that is part of Heartland Visioning. The Candidate School educates them on the process of how to run, the application, paperwork.

Councilman Manspeaker asked Mr. Betata that in his role as Executive Director of Heartland Visioning, he would never encourage or discourage anyone to run for office.

Mr. Betata indicated no, in fact he does not even attend that Candidate School.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that she does not attend either. She also indicated that the CRC (Community Resources Council) and the Library (Topeka and Shawnee County Public Library) coordinate that.

Councilman Wolgast indicated that he thinks any effort like this is extremely challenging to get a communitywide organization reflective of the community and involving the community and getting everyone to be a part of it. He has been around long enough to participate in earlier attempts at organizations like this. Certainly Heartland Visioning has its weaknesses but it has also enabled the community to address some issues that we have not been able to do before. It does some good for the community. Also we definitely have to adjust; everything needs to be revised, reviewed and see new direction, that is just the nature of it. He commends those volunteers who work at it and put in some many hours to keep it going and that is what makes a community successful.

Mr. Betata said they were asking about the Foundations. He stated that Wichita's vision process is 5 years ahead of Shawnee County, and it just so happens they have the same contractor. What Wichita has done of time though is they have done away with their Foundation teams. He is not saying that is what we should do but we need to evaluate the process that is working for us to determine what the best strategy to move forward is.

Commissioner Thomas asked in working with that process, would they use an outside facilitator? Or is it all going to be in-house, folks are entrenched in Heartland Visioning – either one outside the organization or even perhaps outside of the community.

Mr. Betata indicated that they haven't talked in depth about that but they probably would not look outside the community. Like they had mentioned their effort of capacity building, using facilitators from around the community to facilitate the meetings just so it isn't him all the time or the leadership all the time, trying to make it a community activity.

Commissioner Thomas asked absent that would they look beyond their border?

Mr. Betata responded that he can't if they would or wouldn't, that is not something they have really discussed in depth.

Councilman Gray stated that at the last JEDO meeting on December 5, 2011, he had asked if any of Mr. Betata's salary was funded by any tax money, and he said no. There was follow up via a letter sent to Councilman Gray which said "to clarify the comments made at the JEDO meeting, because the Heartland Visioning budget contains mostly private funds and some public funds, it might be perceived that a certain percent of my salary is paid for with public funds. If it is important for the City or the County that their contribution be administered so that public funds are not applied towards salaries we can attempt to do this. Councilman Gray stated he then responded to Mr. Betata in an email that he didn't know if that was a "yes" or a "no" or an "I don't know", but what Mr. Betata did do was to offer Councilman Gray an opportunity to sit down with Mr. Betata and his Co-Chairs to discuss this. Councilman Gray indicated he would like to take that opportunity in the future to sit down to discuss this. Councilman Gray stated Mr. Betata could contact him via email to set this meeting up.

Councilwoman Hiller stated that when she saw this item on the agenda she was a little surprised and she wanted to compliment Councilman Manspeaker for putting this on the agenda. Because as the JEDO board continues to talk about economic development we tend to be focused on the incentives and the marketing and the branding but she does think that Heartland Visioning has given a lot of dynamic and life to this community and it is one of the intangibles that does make the difference in whether or not a business wants to stay here or come here and she appreciates that Councilman Manspeaker brought it up.

Public Comment: Joseph Ledbetter stated that Mr. Betata came to a Hi-Crest NIA (Neighborhood Improvement Association) meeting in November, 2010. They tried to get Doug Kinsinger to come to the meeting but he wouldn't come but Mr. Betata did come. Mr. Ledbetter stated that Mr. Betata did offer candid answers to their questions; he didn't try to slough it off or say that doesn't matter. Mr. Ledbetter stated that Mr. Betata did tell them that he stays away from lobbying and electioneering. Mr. Ledbetter believes that an organization like this needs to stay away from these things. The IRS has some very strict rules about tax exempt organizations involving themselves directly in elections, like email blasting and recruiting. They also talk a lot about entities that receive public money not doing that and they are very serious about it. Mr. Ledbetter just wanted to reiterate that is really his only concern with that organization, he has always been concerned about that with GO Topeka and making sure that they stay out of elections, they are not recruiting, they are not campaigning, they are not emailing, they are not using their infrastructure phones, copying machines, anything to involve themselves in anything related to elections and that includes sales tax elections, that means general elections, that is what the IRS code says, so you stay out of all of them and then let the public make a decision if they want to be involved in that kind of process or not but steer clear of it. Mr. Ledbetter stated again he is happy that Mr. Betata came out to speak with them, on the behest of their President, Betty Phillips and maybe someday Doug Kinsinger will do that too because he has certainly been asked.

#### ITEM NO. 8: REPORT on Jobs Creation from 2000-2012 in Shawnee County.

Councilman Manspeaker indicated that in the interest of the length of this meeting he would be happy to defer this topic to a later date, he thinks they have discussed it enough this meeting.

Commissioner Buhler asked that for clarification, what is the report that Councilman Manspeaker is referring to and can they get a copy of that report to include that for next meeting.

Councilman Manspeaker indicated he just wanted to hear a report from GO Topeka on job creation from 2000 to 2012, he would like to see those numbers and what they are looking at in terms of a census and how many folks have left the community, how many jobs have been created, just an apples to apples comparison. It doesn't seem to him that these things are very difficult to assess. The reality is he has to go back in his district to explain to folks why this organization exists, why we tax them another ½ percent on their sales tax and what it is being spent on and whether or not it is worthwhile to them and at this point he doesn't think he can make that sale. *Councilman Wolgast seconded the motion to defer.*Motion to defer carried unanimously.

Commissioner Buhler indicated that the last item is adjournment and would ask if there is any other public comment at this time.

Public Comment: Maynard Oliverius, Board Chair of GO Topeka and former President and CEO of Stormont Vail Healthcare would like to state that there has been a lot of discussion about fiduciary responsibility and he would like to say as Chair of that Board, which he has been on for many years, they have an extremely fine staff and it is a well organized and well run operation. He would like to compliment the staff because they are also citizens and taxpayers of this community; that they do have a fiduciary responsibility and they take that duty very seriously. They try to be transparent. There are also about a 30-member Board, people who are your colleagues and neighbors and citizens and taxpayers of this community and they all take their responsibility very seriously and they understand the report to JEDO. As a Board of Directors they have delegated the responsibility to them to look at things like that one sheet of property to see whether it is appropriate or not, and to the extent it is not, they question and challenge the staff, and then JEDO challenges and questions the Board and the staff responds appropriately on behalf of the Board. He wants them to know how much they honor and respect the relationship that Dr. Morfessis talked about tonight, it is so critically important, between JEDO and GO

Topeka and that they never ever want to violate that trust and responsibility that they have to JEDO. They do hold staff accountable, they hold themselves accountable and they know that JEDO will be holding them as a Board accountable.

Commissioner Buhler indicated she wanted to address the comments made tonight about JEDO having quarterly meetings. She indicated that there is an open invitation to add items to the agenda for the next meeting. She would bet that they would have a meeting again before the end of the year so she requested anyone to submit their agenda items and any other documentation that goes with them in its entirety and they will post that. She indicated there is no direction on setting the agenda or on putting it out to the rest of the Board. She does think they have some work to do in conjunction with GO Topeka.

Councilman Manspeaker indicated as a general rule he would like more than 7 days, more than 24 hours to get something on the agenda.

Commissioner Buhler stated that she understands but there is nothing provided for this in the Operational Rules.

NO FURTHER BUSINESS appearing the meeting was adjourned at 9:14 p.m.